
SCRUTINY : NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES, PLANNING AND 

COUNTRYSIDE
2.30 pm MONDAY, 18TH JUNE, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 
and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Environmental Wellbeing / EW1: Communities 
Protect, Enhance and Promote our Natural 
Environment and Countryside 
To consider the attached report 5 - 32

4. Environment Enforcement across the County 
Borough 
Report for information. 33 - 36

5. Draft Scrutiny Report -Capital Project Referral 
(Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of 
Pontygwaith) 
The Task and Finish Group has completed its 
Draft report.  A copy will be sent to Committee 
Members under separate cover

6. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 37 - 48

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair.

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors:   D Sammon (Chair)
                      D Jones (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:   M Colbran, L Davies and C T Jones

Co-optees: R Holdaway, J McCarthy and E Scriven

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



                  Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 
Environmental Wellbeing / EW1: Communities Protect, Enhance 
and Promote our Natural Environment and Countryside  

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

1.1     This report was presented to the scrutiny committee at its last meeting on 9th April 
2018. However in respect of two of the three Wellbeing Projects i.e. 

• Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan 

• Implementing the Carbon Management Plan 

updated written information was not available at the time the report was presented to 
scrutiny and as such a verbal update and judgement was provided at the 9th April 2018 
meeting.  

1.2   At the meeting the Committee requested written information on the two Wellbeing 
Projects as noted above and this has now been provided (See APPENDIX I and 
APPENDIX II). Officers will be in attendance to go through the two Wellbeing Projects 
(not the Furniture reuse Project) 

1.3    We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to 
achieve these objectives is established in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing 
in our Community.  
 

Date Written 15th May 2018 
Accountable for Delivery Cheryllee Evans 

Mick Campbell, Sue Gow 

Wellbeing Champion Mark Anderton 
Committee Date Monday, 18th June 2018 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



1.3  This scrutiny report identifies the activities and services that we deliver to support 
communities to protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside.  

1.4   The report focuses on specific wellbeing projects the Council is undertaking to deliver 
this wellbeing objective, whilst also contributing to the national wellbeing goals. 
 

1.5   There are three wellbeing projects: 
 

• Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan; 
• Implementation of the Carbon Management Plan; and  
• Furniture reuse. 

 
1.6  As mentioned at 1.1 this report provides a judgment on the performance of two of the 

three projects i.e.  the “Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan” 
and “Implementing the Carbon Management Plan”. The “Furniture reuse” project was 
discussed at the 9th April meeting and as such will not be addressed at today’s 
meeting. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
2.1. The content of this report be discussed and noted. 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent services. It will do this by delivering its 
key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners. The key strategies that 
focus on delivering excellent services in Neighbourhood Services are: 
 
• Collaborative Change Programme (Technical Report)  
• Corporate Asset Management Plan  
• Carbon Management Plan  
• Open Space Strategy  
• Local Development Plan 
 
Legislative Context 

 
3.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in accordance with 
the sustainable development principle (the five ways of working).   

 

Page 6

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1881/corporate-asset-management-plan-2014-19-v2.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3061/oss-english.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted


3.3. On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing. 
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council 
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County 
Borough.  The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will 
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals. 

3.4. Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other Council 
staff.  Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed alongside the 
views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community engagement; 
the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil.  Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community outlines how the Council would work towards achieving its 
wellbeing objectives.  

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil. 

 
Wellbeing Statement and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 

 
4.2. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.   

 
4.3. Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community was approved by Elected Members at 

the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017. The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective: 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside 
People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in 
good quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, 
learning new skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish. 

4.4. Our response to this objective reflects the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because 
research shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple 
benefits for people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat 

Page 7

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


protection and enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental 
health. 

4.5. Throughout the first year of the plan, the Council has focused on the following 
components and their related outcomes to achieve this wellbeing objective: 
• Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution; 
• Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy; 
• Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 

spaces; and  
• Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy.  

 
 
5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 

5.1. During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there were three projects identified to help deliver 
wellbeing improvements that would support the delivery of the wellbeing objective 
Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside. This report provides an evaluation of those three wellbeing projects: 

 
 

Project name Project 
lead 

Length of 
project 

STATUS Evidence to support the 
Status 
(maximum of 3 points) 

Next steps  
(maximum of 3 points) 

Preparation of an 
Air Quality 
Management 
Area Action Plan 

Sue Gow 18 mths. 
 
01.01.17- 
30.06.18 

  
 Verbal update in scrutiny. 

(see attached) 
 
 

 
 Verbal update in scrutiny. 

(see attached) 
 

Implementing the 
Carbon 
Management Plan 

Mick 
Campbell 

   Verbal update in scrutiny. 
(see attached) 

 
 

 Verbal update in scrutiny. 
(see attached) 

 

Furniture reuse Stephen 
Thomas 

Aug 17 – 
Jan 20 

GREEN 

 Data reports to confirm 
items collected by Furniture 
Revival  

 Collection crew feedback/ 
One stop shop feedback 

 An area for re-use, including 
a shop and storage area has 
been included in the unit 20 
Pre Application to 
Countryside and Planning. 

 

 Submit Full Planning 
application in April 2018. 

 Promote the service 
through a variety of 
communication channels to 
increase public awareness 
and usage of the service. 

Page 8



 
 

 

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17 Achieved 2017/18 

Actual to Date 

2017/18 Targets 

LA WG 

Percentage of waste reused, 
recycled or composted 

65.09           
(17955.55 / 27585.20) 

63.39 (26456.34 / 
41738.24) as at Q3 64.00 58 

Percentage of municipal waste 
collected by local authorities sent 
to landfill 

3.7                
(1009.02 / 27585.20) 

2.36% (493.14 / 
20869.12) as at Q3 

5.0 - 

Percentage of fly-tipping incidents 
cleared in 5 days 

100           
(1785/1785) 

100          
(1730/1730) 100 - 

The percentage of highways 
inspected of a high or acceptable 
standard of cleanliness 

97.0             
(423/436) 

97.2                   
(242/249) 100 - 

Total carbon dioxide emissions 
from energy consumed by local 
authority buildings 

15,808 11,758 15,334 - 

 

5.2. Following the presentation of a ‘Lessons Learned’ report looking back on the first year of 
delivery against the Plan, the findings identified three broad themes to deliver the 
necessary improvements: 

 Streamline the scrutiny process   
 Data quality 
 Clearer reporting and information sharing 

 

Status Delivery Confidence Definition 
Blue Completed 

Green Successful delivery appears likely with no major outstanding issues to 
threaten delivery 

Yellow Successful delivery appears probable but issues exists requiring 
management attention 

Amber Successful delivery is in doubt with major risks or issues in a number 
of key areas 

Red Successful delivery appears to be unachievable 

Page 9



5.3. In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve 
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The 
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit 
under the four wellbeing themes. 

Theme Wellbeing Objective 

Best Start Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 

Working Life 
People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of businesses, 
with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive 
destination. 

Environmental 
Wellbeing Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside. 

Living Well People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 

5.4. To positively prepare for this change, an Environmental Wellbeing workshop was held on 
28th February 2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a 
response for the refocussed Objective.  As part of this workshop: 

5.5. The wording of the refocused objective was amended to “Communities protect, 
enhance and promote our environment and countryside”.  We now make reference 
to the ‘environment’; this includes both the urban and natural environment, and not just 
the natural environment that has been stated previously. 

• Following group consideration of the key response components required to meet 
the objective, it was agreed that the four original components remained, which are: 

• Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution; 
• Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 

hierarchy; 
• Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and 

open spaces; and  
• Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy. 

 

• Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the 
objective.  A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is 
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are 

Page 10



progressing the components and the overarching objective, whilst also positively 
contributing to the national wellbeing goals. 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 

6.1. By 2022, we want the work we are doing for this objective to make a positive impact on 
the wellbeing of the communities within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
Therefore, the outcomes and targets will be monitored and reviewed regularly to ensure 
that we are performing to the best of our abilities.   

Key Performance Indicators 2017/18 
Actual to 

Date 

2017/18 Target 2018/19 
LA 

Target LA WG 

Percentage of waste reused, recycled or composted  
63.39 

(26456.34 / 
41738.24) as 

at Q3 
64.00 58 67.00 

Percentage of municipal waste collected by local 
authorities sent to landfill 

2.36% 
(493.14 / 

20869.12) as 
at Q3 

5.0 - 5.0 

Percentage of fly-tipping incidents cleared in 5 days 100 100 - 100 

The percentage of highways inspected of a high or 
acceptable standard of cleanliness 

96.85 

(154/159) 
100 - 100 

Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by 
local authority buildings 11,758 15,333 - 11,406 

 
7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

 
7.1. A collaborative working group that is to include all officers contributing to the 

Environmental Wellbeing theme will need to meet to review the status regarding the 
performance indicators and KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available 
for future update reports to Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the reporting 
of wellbeing projects will be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.   

7.2. This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be 
required to strengthen the response to the Environmental Wellbeing objective.  This will 
be planned for April to ensure that all officers contributing to the objective are clear on 
their roles and how their work supports the Council’s vision.  

 

Page 11



 

 
CHERYLLEE EVANS 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR HOWARD BARRETT 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 
 
Statement of Wellbeing. 
 
Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community 

 

29th April 2015 
 
 
 
22nd March 2017 
 
26th July 2017 

MTCBC Website 
 
 
 
MTCBC Website 
 
MTCBC Website 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 12

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


APPENDIX I 

Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan 

Project Title Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan 

Project Manager Susan Gow 

Report Period From 30 January  Report Period To 18 June 2018 

Accountable for Delivery Steve Peters 

Services Environmental Health team 

Wellbeing Objectives Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside 

Component(s) Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution 

  

Project Description On 30/01/17, an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was declared.  
This covers the Twynyrodyn Road from the roundabout at the western 
end (Tesco) to the crossroads between Gilfach-Cynon and Arfryn Place.  
It was necessary to declare the AQMA as nitrogen dioxide levels 
exceeded the National Air Quality Objective at a number of monitoring 
locations along the stretch of road.  
 
The next step in improving air quality is for the Local authority to devise 
an action plan.  Following consultation with relevant stakeholders, 
measures within the plan will be implemented in order to reduce nitrogen 
dioxide to acceptable levels. 

Expected Benefits • Reduce nitrogen dioxide levels in the affected area 
• Improve health and wellbeing of local population 

Rationale for the Project The effects of both short and long-term exposure to various air pollutants 
have been comprehensively researched and the links between air 
pollution exposure and adverse health outcomes are now widely 
accepted.1 
 
The environmental impact of poor air quality can affect people’s health; 
impact on the growth of vegetation and cause damage to materials.  In 
Wales, air pollutants are primarily monitored because of the effect on 
human health and ecosystems.  However, some pollutants can contribute 
towards climate change and these impacts have to be taken into account 
when planning national and local air quality management strategies. 
 
In Merthyr Tydfil, elevated levels have been identified as a result of 
routine monitoring of air quality via a network of 24 monitoring stations 
located throughout the County Borough. The results are reported 

                                            
1  Public Health Wales 

Page 13



annually to the Welsh Government who monitors progress made by local 
authorities in remedying the exceedances found.  

Start Date The development of any action plan must be finalised within 18 months of 
the date of declaration. Failure to submit the AQAP by the deadline will 
result in intervention by WG.  
 
The Council’s action plan is in the penultimate, consultation phase and is 
therefore almost complete. After being agreed by the Welsh Government 
implementation of the plan then follows and will be undertaken by our 
Highways Engineers and progress against the plan must be reviewed 
annually.  

Finish Date 30/07/2018 

Highlight Report Author Susan Gow/Martin Stark 
 
Key Actions 
The AQMA action plan must be developed within 12-18 months of the date of the declaration 
and must be completed and submitted to WG for approval by the end of July 2018 at the latest.  
There is currently no specific budget or additional resource associated with the production of 
the Plan and it is being prepared alongside business as usual.  

Specific actions to be undertaken by the end of July 2018:  

• Analysis of the additional traffic survey data obtained from the second automatic 
number plate recognition (ANPR) traffic survey by Environmental Health Officers and 
Highway Officers. 
 

• Work actively with internal partners (Highways Engineers, Corporate Communications, 
members, etc.) to finalise draft action plan proposals. 

 
• Complete formal public consultation by 8th June on the draft proposals in accordance 

with WG policy guidance. This process will meet the requirement to engage the local 
community and other stakeholders and include their contribution in finalised version of 
the plan. 
 

• Prepare a report to go before Council on the 27th June detailing the results of the 
consultation and the finalised action plan with recommended option to be submitted to 
WG for inspection and approval by the end of July 2018.  

 
Progress since the project began 

The additional monitoring station added to the lower end of Twynyrodyn Road produced 
sufficient data to permit an interim assessment to be made of the potential for other air 
pollution hotspots on Twynyrodyn Hill. This showed the area of exceedance to be confined to 
the section of Twynyrodyn Road between Windsor Terrace and Queens Road and this will 

Page 14



remain so provided traffic levels on the road between Windsor Terrace and the roundabout 
outside Tesco do not increase. 
. 
The first phase ANPR traffic survey was completed by specialist consultants in July 2017.  The 
data produced has since been studied in detail by Environmental Health Officers. The results 
show the traffic on Twynyrodyn Road to have a generally steady flow from the A465 which 
peaks at rush-hours but also to carry very substantial traffic from Goatmill Road and Mansfield 
Terrace. This  showed it to be a primary route for local traffic travelling to and from the north of 
the Borough and allowed us to consider other options for controlling the problem with 
potentially fewer adverse impacts for local residents. A second ANPR survey has been 
undertaken and has provided data on where the traffic using Twynyrodyn Road and other key 
links is travelling to and from.  This has assisted in enabling us to more accurately assess the 
likely effect of various traffic control measures on both air quality and congestion in the town; 
the two being closely linked. 

Over the last twelve months a wide range of measures has been considered but only three of 
these are expected to be capable of improving the air quality without causing significant 
adverse effects elsewhere. 

These measures are; 

~ To reduce the volume of traffic on Twynyrodyn Road as a whole by providing an 
alternative northbound route for vehicles using the roundabout outside Tesco. 

~ To install a chicane on the uphill carriageway of the affected section of Twynyrodyn 
Road to improve the dispersion of air pollution from vehicles using the road. 

~ To reduce the volume of traffic on the section of Twynyrodyn Road where the air 
quality is poor by closing the road to west-bound traffic at Queens Road. West-bound traffic 
leaving at Queens Road would be able to re-join Twynyrodyn Road via Windsor Terrace. 

All of these measures provide advantages and disadvantages to residents, traders and others 
living in both the affected and nearby areas. 

The options capable of reducing the levels of nitrogen dioxide to the lowest possible levels; 
and below the air quality objective have been put out for a 12 week period of public 
consultation which commenced on the 16th March and ended on 8th June. The following 
actions have been taken to facilitate the consultation exercise. 

• An article was placed in the April edition of Contact Newspaper which was delivered to 
all householders in Merthyr Tydfil (approximately 29,000).  

•  A mail drop to 515 householders/businesses who could be directly affected by the 
changes depending on option chosen. 

• Consultation options placed on Cwm Taf Consultation Hub. 
• Written to consultees including Public Health Wales, DEFRA, Natural Resources Wales, 

Cwm Taf University Health Board, RCT, Caerphilly, and Powys Councils, Dawn Bowden 
AM, Gerald Jones MP, Traffic Wales and the Noise Abatement Society to seek 
comments/observations. 

Page 15



• Updated Council website with all documents, plans, FAQ’s and drop in session dates. 
Regular updates sent out via Social Media (Facebook and Twitter) directing people to 
the Cwm Taf Consultation Hub and the council’s website in order to have their say. 

 
• Held 3 general drop in sessions; one at Twynrodyn School and two at Merthyr Labour 

Club with a 4th drop in session at The Red House specifically for businesses, which was 
also attended by members of the public. 

• One question and answer session on social media  

 Results of the consultation.  
 
Full details of the consultation process and responses received are contained in the 2 
background papers attached. 
 
In summary there has been an active interest in the consultation from members of the public 
with a total of 152 responses favouring particular options and a large number of other 
comments. Many of the comments suggested alternatives or additions to the proposed 
options. Those that had not already been considered during the drafting of the action plan 
have been set aside for further study and may be included as active elements in the finalised 
version of the action plan. In accordance with good practice guidance, all comments received 
are to be included in the document along with our responses to them. 
 
Of the responses received 94% have favoured the reversal of the one-way system on 
Pontmorlais High Street. 
 
The response to the question on what should be done with Church Street was not so well 
defined. Of those in favour of reversing the one-way system on Pontmorlais High Street 55% 
favoured simply reversing the one-way system on Church Street as well whilst the remainder 
preferred the option of making it two-way if possible. 
 
Reverting Church Street to two-way gives rise to the risk that the south-bound traffic currently 
using Pontmorlais High Street might instead use Glebeland Street to continue to reach 
Tramroadside. This has the potential to significantly impair the improvements being sought on 
Twynyrodyn Road and the roundabout outside Tesco. 
 
The Phase II ANPR traffic survey carried out in the town centre was designed to assist in 
quantifying this risk by establishing the routes taken by the High Street and Glebeland Street 
traffic. Analysis of the data obtained will soon be completed. Current indications are that the 
majority of the High Street traffic is not travelling to Tesco and local services but is instead 
travelling directly through to Court Street and beyond; effectively using the link to avoid the 
traffic lights and the gyratory system. If this is confirmed, the proportion of diverted traffic likely 
to travel back along Glebeland Street will be smaller and potentially manageable. In this case, 
the opening of Church Street to two-way traffic becomes viable. 
 
However, confirming that the High Street is being used in this manner also suggests a 
significant risk that north-bound traffic might do the same when the direction of the traffic flow 

Page 16



on the High Street has been reversed. This may have implications for traffic attempting to exit 
the Tesco car park and, more significantly for air quality, on traffic levels on the High Street. 
Following reversal of the one-way system, it will be necessary to monitor traffic in the area to 
determine the precise effect of the change on driver behaviour on the road network.  
 
Implementation of traffic measures by Highways Engineers 
 
To reverse traffic flow would require a new One-way Traffic Order. Cabinet approval is 
necessary, seeking authorisation to publish a new Traffic Order which includes a statutory 3 
week objection period giving the opportunity for objections to be received from the public. If 
objections are received these would be considered by an Appeals Committee. If no objections 
are received the Order can be made. The timescale associated with a new Traffic Order and 
statutory process typically takes 5-6 months. The new Traffic order would have to be in place 
prior to reversal of flow. Some alteration involving construction work would be required at 
junctions. The estimated timescale for construction is 2 months. High Street is particularly busy 
in December leading up to the Christmas period and in order to avoid disruption, consideration 
will need to be given to construction commencing after Christmas - early 2019. The estimated 
cost for reversal of the one-way system including changes to Traffic Orders and construction is 
approximately £100,000. It should be noted this is an estimate and detailed costs would be 
known upon return of contactors tenders. 
 
    
 
Project Risks 

The risks associated with failing to deliver the action plan on time are: 

Risk 
No. 

Risk 
Description 

Assessment of 
Risk 

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits 

Decision or 
action 

required 

Responsible 
person for 

action 

Date for 
decision or 

action 
I L S 

1 Failure to complete Action 
Plan within the prescribed 
time-scale leading to a breach 
of legislative requirements 

5 2 10  Delays in taking 
the necessary 
action for the 
benefit of the 
community 
members 
affected 
 Failure to meet 

the legislative 
requirements 
could lead to 
intervention by 
Welsh 
Government & 
ultimately result 
in the Council 
being issued 
with a direction 
from WG  

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis 

Susan 
Gow 

 

Page 17



 Loss of 
organisational 
reputation 

2 Increased risk of air pollutants 
having a negative impact on 
the physical wellbeing of the 
community living in the AQMA 
& the long term consequences 
for future generations.  

4 2 8  Failure to meet 
the current and 
changing needs 
& expectations 
of our 
community 

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis 

Susan 
Gow 

 

 

Project Issues 

The issues impacting on the ability to deliver the action plan on time are: 

Issue 
No. 

Issue 
Description 

Assessment of 
Issue 

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits 

Decision or 
action 
required 

Responsible 
person for 
action 

Date for 
decision or 
action 

I L S 

1 Lack of capacity within 
Environmental Health or 
Highways & Engineering team 
to complete the necessary 
tasks 

4    Delivery of the 
project relies 
heavily on 
existing 
capacity being 
maintained. 

 Lack of 
capacity could 
lead to delays 
affecting the 
council’s ability 
to meet 
deadlines 

 If the primary 
focus for 
officers is 
completion of 
tasks linked to 
the AQMA, 
there could be 
a knock on 
effect to 
‘business as 
usual’  

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis 

Susan 
Gow 

 

2 Internal budgetary pressure 
for implementation of the 
AQAP going forward.  

4    Plan not 
implemented in 
accordance 
with agreed 
timescale. 

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis 

Martin 
Stark 

 

 

Page 18



AQMA Consultation Process 16 March – 08 June 2018 
 
On 30th January 2017 an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was declared.   

After declaring an AQMA the Council is required to consider methods of improving 
the air quality in the affected area and to consult the public on its findings.  

Since the declaration a wide range of measures have been considered but only three 
of these are expected to be capable of improving the air quality without causing 
significant adverse effects elsewhere.   

A 12 week public consultation started on Friday 16th March 2018, during which we 
put forward to the public the three options to be considered. These options were:   
 

• Option 1a/1b: To reduce the volume of traffic on Twynyrodyn Road as a 
whole by providing an alternative northbound route for vehicles using the 
roundabout outside Tesco. 

• Option 2: To install a chicane on the uphill carriageway of the affected 
section of Twynyrodyn Road to improve the dispersion of air pollution from 
vehicles using the road. 

• Option 3: To reduce the volume of traffic on the section of Twynyrodyn Road 
where the air quality is poor by closing the road to west-bound traffic at 
Queens Road. West-bound traffic leaving at Queens Road would be able to 
re-join Twynyrodyn Road via Windsor Terrace. 

 
All of these measures provide advantages and disadvantages to residents, traders 
and others living in both the affected and nearby areas.  
 
In addition to this, we also asked the public to put forward other suggestions for 
consideration by giving them the option to add comments to their response.   
 
 
Consultation Questionnaire  
 
An online questionnaire was published via the ‘Cwm Taf Community Engagement 
Hub’ and was available in both English and Welsh.   
 
Stakeholders could take part in the consultation electronically via the Cwm Taf Hub, 
online via the Social Media session and with paper questionnaires available at the 
consultation sessions and also by request from Corporate Communications, 
Consultation & Engagement Department at the Civic Centre.   
 
The consultation questionnaire consisted of 2 questions:  

Question 1 

Please select one of the following four options as your preferred proposal:  

Please select one option only. 

Page 19



Option 1a   

Option 1b   

Option 2   

Option 3   

Question 2 

Do you have any comments?  

 
 
Alongside these questions, members of the public were given a number of 
information documents.  These were:  
 

• Detailed descriptions of each option, with an accompanying map to give a 
visual description  

• An FAQ document  
• The Executive Summary of the Draft Air Quality Action Plan  
• A map showing the Twynyrodyn Air Quality Management Area  

 
A full technical study was also available on request by 
emailing publichealth@merthyr.gov.uk .   
 
 
Council Web Pages  
 
The Council’s Air Pollution web pages and consultation pages were updated to 
include information on the consultation, including links to the Cwm Taf Hub, as well 
as all of the available documentation.   
 
An eye-catcher was also created for the homepage of the website so that anyone 
visiting merthyr.gov.uk could see at a glance that the consultation was taking place 
and quickly link through to the relevant information.  
 
Analytical data for the Air Pollution page tells us that during the consultation period 
92 people viewed the information.  This is in comparison to 0 views for the period 
from January 1, 2018 up until the start of the consultation.   
 
 
Contact Newspaper  
 
An article was placed in issue 53 of Contact Newspaper, which was distributed in 
April 2018.  Contact Newspaper is distributed to all households within the County 
Borough (approximately 29,000).   

Page 20

mailto:publichealth@merthyr.gov.uk


 
Mail Drop  
 
112 letters were sent out in January 2017 to declare the AQMA.   
 
515 letters were sent out in March 2018 advising residents of the public consultation.   
 
 
Social Media  
 
The consultation was promoted and users were signposted to the Cwm Taf Hub and 
Council’s corporate website via Facebook and Twitter on various occasions 
throughout the consultation period.   
 
Analytical data for Facebook tells us that the posts had a reach of 37.1k users.  
 
Analytical data for Twitter tells us that the Tweets had a reach of almost 17k users.  
 
 
Consultation Events  
 
In order to give members of the public the opportunity to speak with Officers, a 
number of drop-in sessions were arranged, as follows:  
 
Date Time Location 
Tuesday 17th April, 2018 2.00pm - 4.00pm Merthyr Labour Club  
Thursday 3rd May, 2018 3.30pm - 5.00pm Twynyrodyn School  
Thursday 31st May, 2018 2.00pm - 4.00pm Redhouse  
Wednesday 6th June, 2018 5.00pm - 7.00pm Merthyr Labour Club  
 
These events were advertised on the Cwm Taf Hub, the Council’s website, as 
posters at the locations and as Events on Facebook.   
 
In attendance at each session were the following MTCBC Officers, as well as some 
Ward Councillors and Cabinet Members: 
 
Officers 
Environmental Health Manager 
Environmental Health Officer 
Environmental Health Officer 
Engineering and Traffic Manager 
Senior Traffic Engineer  
Corporate Communications, Consultation & Engagement Officer 
Corporate Communications, Consultation & Engagement Manager  
Town Centre Manager (Redhouse session only)  
 
The Redhouse drop-in session was earmarked as a session for local businesses, 
specifically from Pontmorlais, to attend.  This is due to Options 1a and 1b proposing 

Page 21



to change the flow of traffic through Pontmorlais, which would ultimately affect the 
businesses there.  They were invited by hand-delivered letter.   
 
 
Social Media Session  
 
For people who were unable to attend the drop-in sessions, we also held a Social 
Media session on Tuesday 8th May 2018 from 4.00pm - 6.00pm via Facebook, 
where people were invited to ask their questions via Facebook.  
 
The same officers were in attendance at the drop-in sessions (detailed above).   
 
Analytical data shows that posts regarding the session reached over 4.5k users.   
 
 
Feedback from the Public Consultation 
 
Respondents were asked to use the questionnaire to respond formally to the 
consultation, either via the Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub, by paper copy or 
by emailing publichealth@merthyr.gov.uk.   
 
 
Consultation Responses 
 
In total 152 responses were received. 

• 104 received via the online questionnaire 
• 48 received via the paper questionnaire 

 
The paper questionnaires were entered in to the Cwm Taf Hub, enabling all 
responses to be collated in to one results report, as shown below.   
 
 
Questionnaire Results 
 
Response to question 1: 
 

Response Number of 
Respondents 

Percentage of 
Respondents 

Option 1a 78 51.32% 

Option 1b 65 42.76% 

Option 2 5 3.29% 

Option 3 4 2.63% 

Page 22

mailto:publichealth@merthyr.gov.uk


 
As you can see in the table above, the majority of respondents (51.32%) voted in 
favour of Option 1a, with the second preferred option being Option 1b (42.76%).   
 
Options 2 and 3 combined were the preferred option of just 5.92% of respondents.   
 
Response to question 2:  
 
66 respondents provided word responses to question 2.   
 
There were no common themes to these responses and comments can be found in 
Appendix 1.   
 
Other  
 
A total of 5 emails were received via publichealth@merthyr.gov.uk and 13 comments 
submitted via the face-to-face consultation, which did not specify a preferred option 
as set out in the consultation.  These results have therefore been collated separately 
and are available in Appendix 2.   
 
 
 

Page 23

mailto:publichealth@merthyr.gov.uk


1

Patrick, Llewellyn Morgan

Subject: FW: Draft Air Quality Action Plan Consultation

 

 

From: Paul Callow [mailto:Paul.Callow@phe.gov.uk]  

Sent: 11 May 2018 16:39 
To: Patrick, Llewellyn Morgan 

Cc: 'Huw Brunt (Public Health Wales)' 
Subject: RE: Draft Air Quality Action Plan Consultation 

 

Hi Llewellyn, 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the 2018 Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP). We have reviewed the 

report and make the following observations; 

 

The AQAP provides a detailed and thorough review of the options available to improve air quality affecting Merthyr 

Tydfil.  It is clear that MTCBC recognises the public health impact of air pollution and is committed to improve local 

air quality; we support the air quality improvement efforts outlined. 

 

The AQAP prioritises the need to improve air quality in Merthyr Tydfil, specifically Twynyrodyn Road. It also 

recognises that actions should be taken in Merthyr town centre should not result in unintended consequences at 

other locations. This is especially important from a public health perspective given the ‘non-threshold’ status of 

some air pollutants. Air pollution concentrations should be reduced wherever possible in order to minimise health 

risks; statutory air quality objectives should not be seen as ‘safe’ levels to pollute up to. We support the “1a option” 

that protects the public through reduced traffic in the air quality management area (AQMA) and does not increase 

traffic in other areas.  

 

Additionally, we would support actions that not only improve air quality in localised AQMAs but across communities 

and the County Borough as a whole. Encouraging combinations of active travel, low emission and more sustainable 

forms of transport present a win-win opportunity to improve air quality and public health beyond the boundary of 

AQMAs. Any improvement in active travel, whether in an AQMA or not, will have positive health consequences and 

will also support and benefit interventions targeting other health outcomes, such as active travel and increased 

physical activity.   

 

You’ll get a similar response from the health board shortly too. 

 

Have a good weekend, 

 

Paul (and Huw) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



( aG &> ®· g/" N/HS j 
Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol 
Cwm Taf 
University Health Board 

Your ref/eich 
cyf: 
Our ref/ein 
cyf: 
Date/Dyddiad: 
Tel/ff6n: 
Fax/ffacs: 
Email/ebost: 
Dept/ad ran: 

B8SW1235 

15/05/2018 
01443 744875 
01443 744888 
Kelechi.nnoaham@wales.nhs.uk 

Mr Llewellyn Patrick 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 

Dear Mr Patrick 

Re: Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council air quality action plan 
2018 - In respect of Section 82, Part IV of the Environment Act 
1995 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the 2018 Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP). We have reviewed the report and make the following observations; 

We have consulted with our colleagues at the Environmental Public Health Service 
( delivered collaboratively through Public Health Wales' Public Protection Team and 
Public Health England's Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental Hazards 
Wales). 

The AQAP provides a detailed and thorough review of the options available to 
improve air quality affecting Merthyr Tydfil. It is clear that MTCBC recognises the 
public health impact of air pollution and is committed to improve local air quality; 
we support the air quality improvement efforts outlined. 

The AQAP prioritises the need to improve air quality in Merthyr Tydfil, specifically 
Twynyrodyn Road. It also recognises that actions should taken in Merthyr town 
centre should not result in unintended consequences at other locations. This is 
especially important from a public health perspective given the 'non-threshold' 
status of some air pollutants. Air pollution concentrations should be reduced 
wherever possible in order to minimise health risks; statutory air quality objectives 
should not be seen as 'safe' levels to pollute up to. We support the "la option" 
that protects the public through reduced traffic in the air quality management area 
(AQMA) and does not increase traffic in other areas. 

Additionally, we would support actions that not only improve air quality in localised 
AQMAs but across communities and the County Borough as a whole. Encouraging 
combinations of active travel, low emission and more sustainable forms of 
transport present a win-win opportunity to improve air quality and public health 
beyond the boundary of AQMAs. Any improvement in active travel, whether in an 
AQMA or not, will have positive health consequences and will also support and 

Return Address: 
Ynysmeurig House, Navigation Park, Abercynon, CF45 4SN 

Chair/Cadeirydd: Professor Marcus Longley Chief Executive/Prif Weithredydd: Mrs Allison Williams 

Cwm Taf riealth Board s the operational name of Cwm Taf Local rtealth Board/Bwrad {echyd Cwm Taf yw enw gweithredol Bwrdd lechyd Lleol Cwm Taf 

Page 25



benefit interventions targeting other health outcomes, such as active travel and 
increased physical activity. 

Yours sincerely 

Kelechi Nnoaham 
Director of Public Health 

Page 26



Carbon Management Plan 
 

Project Title Carbon Management Plan 

Project Manager Mick Campbell 

Report Period From September 2017 Report Period To May 2018 

Accountable for Delivery Cheryllee Evans 

Services Corporate Property:  Building Services 

Wellbeing Objective Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside 

Component(s) Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy 

  

Project Description The purpose of the Carbon Management Plan is to outline a strategy to 
deliver a programme of initiatives to achieve our reduction targets and 
ultimately reduce the Authority’s revenue expenditure by £350,000 per 
annum by the end of the five year plan from the following areas: 

• Buildings; 
• Street lighting;  
• Fleet; and  
• Business travel. 

The initiatives could be funded by a Salix type recycling fund where the 
Authority and Salix provide 50/50 funding which can be continually 
recycled to provide further funding or by individual Salix loans for each 
project.   

Expected Benefits To reduce the Authority’s properties CO2 emissions arising by 3% per 
annum (15% by 2021).  By reducing energy use we should also generate 
savings. 

Rationale for the Project The objectives of the Carbon Management Plan are supportive of the 
Authority’s environmental responsibilities under its’ charter, of the Welsh 
Government’s obligations under the Environment (Wales) Act 2015 and 
of the requirements placed on all public sector bodies in Wales by the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
The Plan addresses the need to reduce expenditure and represents a 
positive response to recent Carbon Management Reviews which ranked 
the Council 21st out of 22 Local Authorities in Wales for Carbon 
Management. 

Start Date 2017 

Finish Date 2021 

Highlight Report Author Mick Campbell 
 

                   Appendix II 

Page 27



 
Key Actions 

Buildings 
In order to reduce the amount of Carbon Dioxide produced and to save energy and reduce 
operating costs, the local authority will: 

• Operate its existing buildings in an as efficient way as possible dependant on the plant, 
lighting and controls within the building; 

• Will invest in Invest to Save Technical Projects as and when funding is available to improve 
energy efficiency and reduce CO2 emissions; 

• Design and Asset Management – all new buildings and refurbishment projects will be 
carried out with energy efficiency and life cycle costs taken into consideration.  The most 
efficient equipment will be installed wherever financially possible; 

• Renewable Technologies will be installed where both feasible and financially viable; and,  
• Continue to investigate new technologies and advise on their feasibility for use. 
 
Street lighting 
In order to reduce the amount of CO2 produced and to save energy, the local authority will: 
• Operate its street lighting as efficiently as possible, and look to utilise night time dimming 

where acceptable. 
 
Fleet 
In order to reduce the amount of CO2 produced, the local authority will: 
• Maintain its vehicles regularly; 
• Use the vehicle tracker system to ensure that the vehicles are used effectively and to 

monitor and improve driver behaviour; 
• Procure the most efficient vehicles available to do the job; and 
• Continue to investigate alternative fuel sources as technology develops. 

 
Business Travel 
In order to reduce the amount of CO2 produced, the local authority will: 
• Look to minimising the amount of business travel being carried out as much as possible 

(when staffing levels allow). 
 
(b) Project Performance 

Local Indicator Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by local authority 
buildings 

  Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target 

 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 

MT 15808 0 934 1058 9766 11758 15333 

Page 28



National Indicator Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by local authority 
buildings 

  Annual Performance Data Annual Target 

 2016/17 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 

MT 15808 11552 14027 12074 15808 11758 15333 

Wales 21796 25993 28372 21744 22199 20085  N/A 
 

(c) Project Evaluation 

This is the second highlight report for the carbon management plan and gives an update from 
the verbal report given on 9th May 2018.   

This carbon management plan has been passed to the Carbon Management Team for 
information and comments and should be presented to Council later this year.  The delay is 
due to a lack of resources in that the energy engineer who was driving the project forward was 
a part time agency worker and has left and has not yet been replaced.  The job has been 
advertised and three applications were received with two applicants being invited for interview, 
however one withdrew his application and the other was found not to have suitable skills or 
experience for the role.  It is felt that the role being advertised as a two year fixed term post 
has hindered suitable applicants from applying as there is a shortage of suitably skilled 
engineers throughout the UK.  A report has been submitted to Council requesting that the post 
terms be changed from a fixed term to a permanent position. 

Although the 2017 results show a 24% reduction in CO2 emissions for the year, energy use 
actually increased slightly.  The main reason for the reduction was a 15% reduction in the 
carbon factor for electricity as the grid supplies are getting greener and there are indications 
that they will be reduced again this year.  The emissions are weather dependent in that the 
colder it is, the more energy will be used and it is expected that the first quarter of this year will 
show a marked increase in energy use due to the prolonged cold wet spell of weather.  The 
figures are taken from the UK government website based on Display Energy Certificates and 
the reduction in CO2 emissions has been exceptional with the target being exceeded but  the 
drop cannot be explained by the reduction in the carbon factor.  Having checked other Welsh 
Authorities scores they have shown similar reductions to our own 

During this period we have had several meetings with Green Growth Wales and the Refit 
programme looking at possible solutions to the lack of funding and resources.  These meetings 
have highlighted the lack of resources we have which will need to be addressed before we can 
move forward.  ReFit Cymru has a framework agreement where the feasibility of projects can 
be established and a group of contractors who will respond to tenders has been established.  
There are current concerns around the legally binding contract which could pose a high risk to 
the authority because of binding timescales and the lack of resources available.  At a recent 
ReFit event most of the concerns raised by authorities who had taken ReFit up was the lack of 
resources actually required to work with ReFit as these had been underestimated in almost 
every case. 

Page 29



We have issued an expression of interest to Salix for possible loans up to the value of 
£4million.  Each individual loan would have to be based on its own merits and would have to 
meet the Salix criteria before being accepted.  

We are investigating the feasibility of “solar farms” on a couple of sites which may be of benefit 
to the authority and a possible site has been identified with an initial feasibility study being 
carried out which indicates that the scheme could be profitable but would not be eligible for 
Salix funding.  A more detailed feasibility study is required to enable a full option appraisal to 
be undertaken. 

The Welsh Government are likely to issue renewable energy targets and carbon budgets in 
order to meet their ambition for Wales to be energy neutral by 2030.  Both of these will result in 
new legislation which will specifically target the public sector and increase both funding and 
resource requirements and place mandatory targets for reductions.  Dependant on the scope 
of the requirements may mean more staff are required to collect and collate the data and 
financial penalties may be incurred if targets are met.  We are at a severe disadvantage to 
other authorities on this issue as we are one of only two who did not report these emissions 
under the CRC scheme.  

We are still having problems getting up to date information from British Gas with approximately 
still £40,000 of outstanding bills to clear.  OFGEM, NPS and CCS are all involved in trying to 
get this problem rectified but British Gas still cannot provide accurate billing and therefore we 
are unable to pay for energy used. 

We have all of the large sites with a baseline for 2014 so that reductions targets can be set 
once the carbon management plan has been approved.  Most of 2015 & 16’s data has been 
input but we are still awaiting some data from British Gas to complete the information. 

The UK Government scrapped the Carbon Reduction Commitment in 2016 which was a tax on 
the amount of carbon dioxide produced by large users of energy.  To replace this tax the UK 
Government increased the CCL by a small amount and gave figures for this increase until 
2019.  In April the amount was increased by approximately 3% and the increase for 2019 is 
between 45 – 67% dependent on fuel type.  More increases for 2020 onwards will be 
announced in Budget 2018. Our total CLC charge per annum in 2015/16 was approximately 
£75,000, so without reducing energy use this will rise to approximately £94000 this year and 
approximately £136,000 in 2019. 

 
Targets for the next period 

The main target for the next period is to recruit a suitable energy engineer who can drive 
forward the Carbon Management Plan. In the meantime we will continue to reduce energy use 
as and where we can with the limited resources we have.  The risks and issues going forward 
remain the same as before as without sufficient funding for projects and resources we are 
unable to drive the plan any further forward. 

We have set the CO2 emissions reduction target at 3% again for this year. 

Page 30



(d) Project Risks 

Risk 
No. 

Risk 
Description 

Assessment of 
Risk 

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits 

Decision or 
action 
required 

Responsible 
person for 
action 

Date for 
decision or 
action 

I L S 

 The plan has to be 
approved by the Carbon 
Management team 

3 2 6 The plan needs 
to be agreed 
before it can be 
passed to 
Council for 
approval 

Resource
s required 
to drive 
the plan 
forward 

M 
Campbell 

 

 The plan has to be 
approved by Council 

3 2 6 The plan need 
to be approved 
so it can be 
implemented 

Plan to be 
brought 
before 
council 

Energy 
Engineer 

 

 Lack of available funding 3 3 9 Unable to start 
plan without 
funding 

Discussio
ns 
ongoing 

  

 Lack of staff resources 
should funding become 
available 

3 3 9 Unable to start 
plan without 
staff to carry it 
out 

Energy 
engineer 
post to be 
recruited 
again 

Council 
report 
6/6/18 

 

 

The risk of the plan being agreed and then approved is a minimal one as there are no 
controversial elements within in it.  The main risks are the lack of staff and funding with which 
to carry out the actions within the plan.  We have requested that the position of an energy 
engineer is to be changed from a 2 year fixed term post to a permanent position to aid better 
skilled applicants to apply.  At the moment all reliance on energy is being placed on one 
member of staff who also has several other duties to perform.  The lack of funding is being 
addressed  by investigating Salix funding for projects but the projects need full feasibility 
studies to be carried out first and we do not have the resources to do this in house or the 
funding to employ external consultants 

 
(e) Project Issues 

Issue 
No. 

Issue 
Description 

Assessment of 
Issue 

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits 

Decision or 
action 
required 

Responsible 
person for 
action 

Date for 
decision or 
action 

I L S 

 Lack of available funding 3 3 9 Unable to deliver 
without funding 

   

Page 31



 Lack of suitable staff 3 3 9 Unable to deliver 
without staff 

   

 

Even if we accept the Refit Cymru framework to accelerate the plan we still need to procure 
the projects, then project manage them and at the moment there are insufficient resources and 
no funding to be able to do this.  The personnel required need to be skilled in their fields and 
there is a lack of these skills generally available. 

 

Page 32



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Information Report for Environmental Cleansing 
and Enforcement

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 An information report to update committee members on the current position of the 
Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team in regards to enforcement. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the scrutiny committee notes the content of this report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Fly tipping is a Corporate Priority and has been high on the agenda since February 
2016. Fly tipping is not unique to Merthyr Tydfil; it is a national problem and fly 
tipping incidents are increasing. According to Keep Britain Tidy 2016/17 Local 
Authorities in the UK recorded in excess of one million incidents of fly tipping costing 
over £50 million of tax payer’s money to clear off Council owned land.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were adequate for fly tipping as the performance scores 
for fly tipping clearance were slightly better than the all Wales average, as shown in 
the table below.

Date Written 7th June 2018
Report Author Jemma Rough, Paul Jones
Service Area Neighbourhood Services
Committee Date 18th June 2018

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 92.3 % 92.2 %

4.2 The Fly-tipping functionality formed a part of the Waste Services Department in 
2012/13 and resources included two members of staff (3.5 days per week) and the 
use of one vehicle (this also included all receptacle deliveries, private works). 

4.3 All fly-tipping evidence was gathered by Waste Services and passed to 
Environmental Health Department for further action. All prosecutions were 
undertaken by Environmental Health. No prosecutions were taken to court.

4.4 Fly tipping is not unique to Merthyr Tydfil; it is a national problem and fly tipping 
incidents are increasing. Tackling fly tipping within Merthyr Tydfil has been high on 
the agenda over the last two years and links into the corporate priority ‘A Sustainable 
Environment’.  

4.5 Local Authorities are responsible for clearing fly-tipping on public land. LA’s may also 
investigate incidents on private land but there is no obligation to clear the waste.

4.6 Natural Resources Wales (NRW) is responsible for dealing with large scale illegal 
dumping, including incidents involving organised crime and certain hazardous 
wastes. NRW will only clear up such waste where there is an immediate risk to the 
environment or human health.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

Fly tipping Complaints

5.1 In April 2018 the performance indicator for fly tipping clearance changed from the 
percentage of incidents cleared from council owned land within 5 working days to the 
average number of days taken to clear fly tipped waste from council owned land. In 
April 2018 we received 299 reports of fly tipping in which we cleared the waste on 
council owned land on average of 2.01 days.

5.2 In May 2018 we received 328 reports of fly tipping. The waste was removed from 
Council owned land on average of 2.1 days.

5.3 Although reported incidents have increased compared to last year, there has been 
more publicity via Corporate Communications in which we have encouraged 
residents to report fly tipping.  

Fly Tipping Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN)

5.4 On 25th October 2017, the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) (Wales) 
Regulations came into force to help Local Authorities to tackle fly tipping across 
Wales by way of serving FPNs for small scale fly tipping offences. 

Table 1: Percentage of fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days in 2012/13

Page 34



5.5 A report was put before Full Council on 7th March 2018 asking committee members 
to approve the report giving authorised officers the powers to serve £400 FPNs for 
first time, small scale fly tipping offences. This report was approved and FPNs were 
served from April 1st 2018.

5.6 Since April 1st 2018, 15 FPNs for small scale fly tipping have been served, in which 
four have been paid. Four FPNs have been revoked for various reasons. One reason 
is, if information is found for two people living in the same address but one person 
takes full responsibility for the disposal of the waste, then the other FPN is revoked 
and only one person is expected to pay. Three FPNs are currently in the final 
demand stage and 3 are still within the initial payment period. One FPN has been 
progressed to a formal investigation.

Section 34 Notices

5.7 A section 34 Notice is a legal notice served on a business giving them 7 days to 
furnish documentation proving how they dispose of their commercial waste. This 
section comes under the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

5.8 Should a business fail to respond, or give insufficient documentation, a £300 FPN is 
served which gives the business 14 days to discharge liability. 

5.9 If no payment is received the business is served with a final demand notice giving a 
further 7 days to discharge liability. If there is no response, the file is passed to the 
Legal Department for consideration for prosecution.

5.10 Should the business furnish adequate documentation, no further action is taken.

5.11 We aim to serve at least 10 notices per week as this allows us to establish how 
businesses are disposing of their commercial waste. This exercise was implemented 
due to the nature of the waste found during fly tipping investigations.

Prosecutions

5.12 Since the implementation of the Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team, 
there have been 9 successful prosecutions for fly tipping and s.34 offences. There 
are currently 5 files with the legal department awaiting initial court hearings. Eleven 
cases have been through the formal interview stage and require the case file to be 
written up and one s.34 case file is due to be written up.

5.13 There are three formal PACE interviews scheduled. 

Promotion and Awareness

5.14 We are now working closely with Corporate Communications to promote the work 
that the Enforcement Team are undertaking including, before & after pictures, fly 
tipping videos, publicising enforcement action taken etc.

Page 35



5.15 We are also working on new initiatives to raise awareness on the effects of fly tipping 
on the borough and the work required to clear and investigate. We are working with 
Corporate Communications to create a newsletter to post online and on all social 
media streams to keep the public up to date.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 We would like to significantly reduce the instances of fly tipping within the borough. 
In order to achieve this we would like to remove and investigate all instances of fly 
tipping on council owned land within a timely manner. Where necessary we also aim 
to prosecute to help reduce the incidents of fly tipping. 

6.2 We want to carry out more surveillance to gain intelligence and evidence on fly 
tippers. The Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team have a number of 
covert cameras available to use for surveillance purposes. Due to the capacity within 
the department, there is a lack of surveillance being carried out. More surveillance 
will have a positive effect on the department as it will allow for more prosecutions, 
which with publicity, will deter potential offenders from fly tipping in the area. 

6.3 We would like all businesses within the borough to adhere to their duty of care under 
s.34 of the Environmental Protection Act (1990). This can be achieved by 
establishing how businesses dispose of their waste and ensuring it is done in a safe 
and legal manner. 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Prioritise hot spot areas and continue to send letter drops to problematic areas 
advising of the issues in the area and ask for information.

7.2 Continue to serve FPNs for small scale fly tipping. 

7.3 Continue to establish how businesses are disposing of their commercial waste.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

N/A

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 36



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting.

1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 
of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers the attached draft work programme and approves, revises 
or amends it as deemed appropriate.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 

by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme.

3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 
their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 
Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this.

Date Written 11th June 2018
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 18th June 2018

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 
help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:-

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. The key outcomes (or components) for Best Start to Life are:

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment 
 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education 
 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people 
 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination. The key outcomes (or components) to support the 
response to this objective include: 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future; 
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish; 
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets; 
 Developing safer communities; and 
 Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market.

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. The key outcomes (or components) for communities to 
protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside include: 

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution; 
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 

hierarchy; 
 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 

spaces; and 
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy.

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. To 
ensure a holistic approach is met in this objective, the key outcomes (or 
components) for Living Well will include: 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm; 
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience; 
 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity; 
 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health; 
 Clear and accessible information and advice; and 
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home

Page 38



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent.

3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 
the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act.

3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 
the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy

Page 39



e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 
pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

Q) Method of Scrutiny?
Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to:

a. Consider an item at a single meeting;
b. Consider an item over a series of meetings;
c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 

to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice);

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days);
e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee;
f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views;
g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 

calls for evidence).

Performance and Scrutiny Department
MTCBC

Page 40



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future:
Wellbeing in our 
Community

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website

Full Council 4th April 2018 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 41

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

APPENDIX I

Page 42



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate 
Objectives?)?

Officer & Cabinet 
Member 

Scrutiny Focus 

Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA)

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Martin Stark / Carwyn 
Morris / Sue Gow /  
Cheryllee Evans

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The nitrogen dioxide levels 
exceeded the National Air Quality Objective at a number 
of monitoring locations along the Twynyrodyn Road from 
the roundabout at the western end (Tesco) to the 
crossroads between Gilfach-Cynon and Arfryn Place.  This 
is an area of high Public interest / concern and will this 
report will provide the committee with an update on the 
Air Quality Management Area.

Energy Update (Carbon 
Management) 

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Mick Campbell /  
Cheryllee Evans

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report to provide an update on 
the Carbon Management Plan. This outlines a strategy to 
deliver a programme of initiatives to achieve our 
reduction targets and ultimately reduce the Authority’s 
revenue expenditure by £350,000 per annum by the end 
of the five year plan.

Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

No Officers in 
attendance – Report for 
information.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An information report to provide 
an update on environmental enforcement i.e. number of 
fly tipping prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty 
Notices etc. This is a standing item. This is an area of high 
Public interest / concern.

18th June 2018

Task & Finish Group report on 
“ Capital Project Referral 
(Brandy Bridge scheme / 
Road Slip - South of 
Pontygwaith)”

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Task and Finish Group The Task and Finish Group will provide a report for the 
Committee for consideration. This follows the referral 
from Cabinet member for Governance. 

P
age 43



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Countryside (including 
the Environment Act)

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Rolf Brown /  Judith 
Jones

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report to provide the 
committee with details for example of what the Section 
does, what they can do to help Community Groups.

23rd July 2018
Co

un
tr

ys
id

e 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

es

Open Spaces Strategy – 
An update

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Tom Bramley /  Judith 
Jones

Scrutiny & Challenge: - a shared and strategic approach 
to the provision of open space is essential for the 
provision of well-designed and cared for open spaces 
within our County Borough. To receive details of the 
Councils Open Space Strategy and details of current and 
future plans. To also provide details of all Measures- and 
progress against them.

Recycling / Landfill 
(Performance).

NB the performance data will 
not be verified and published 
on this date. The Committee 
may wish to move this item 
to 22nd October; and replace 
with another item.

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr K Gibbs / Cheryllee 
Evans /  Paul Davies / 
Steve Thomas

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  By 2025 at least 70% of municipal 
waste is to be recycled and the remaining (residual) 30% 
is to be dealt with by high efficiency Energy from Waste 
plant. The Recycling / Landfill performance data will have 
been published in August. The main focus of the 
Authority is to build on recent successes and continue to 
improve performance to enable us to exceed the Welsh 
Government statutory target. A report to scrutiny 
providing details of the figures, showing trends, 
comparisons with other Welsh authorities and progress 
against targets. 

10th 
September 
2018

Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr Kevin Gibbs /  
Cheryllee Evans / Simon 
Jones (Legal) / Jemma 
Rough / Paul Jones

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report to provide an update on 
environmental enforcement i.e. number of fly tipping 
prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty Notices 
etc. Also an update on the new legislation and how this 
has been implemented.

22nd October 
2018

Local Development Plan (LDP) 
Update

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr K Gibbs / John Raine 
/  Judith Jones

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Under the provisions of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all Councils 
have a duty to produce an LDP Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR) which must be submitted to the Welsh 

P
age 44



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Government by the end of October each year.
Scrutiny will – firstly consider whether the policies 
identified in the monitoring framework are being 
implemented, and secondly, to consider whether the 
plan as a whole is working successfully.

Household Waste and 
Recycling Centres (HWRC)

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr Kevin Gibbs /  
Cheryllee Evans / Paul 
Davies / Steve Thomas

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The contract for the management 
of Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRC’s) 
expired on 1st September 2018 and the facilities were 
brought back under the control of the Council. How has 
the transition gone?

Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

No Officers in 
attendance – Report for 
information.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An information report to provide 
an update on environmental enforcement i.e. number of 
fly tipping prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty 
Notices etc. This is a standing item. This is an area of high 
Public interest / concern.

Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

No Officers in 
attendance – Report for 
information.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An information report to provide 
an update on environmental enforcement i.e. number of 
fly tipping prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty 
Notices etc. This is a standing item. This is an area of high 
Public interest / concern.

3rd December 
2018

Street Cleansing Performance EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr Kevin Gibbs /  
Cheryllee Evans / Jemma 
Rough / Paul Jones

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report to provide an update on 
the cleanliness of the streets within the borough i.e. litter 
picking, needle stick complaints, dog fouling.  This is an 
area of high Public interest / concern.

21st January 
2019

Highways; Winter 
Maintenance; and Street 
Lighting Update

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr Kevin Gibbs /  
Cheryllee Evans / Darren 
Chaffe / Chris Ridout

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An update  on Highways; Winter 
Maintenance; and Street Lighting 

P
age 45



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

No Officers in 
attendance – Report for 
information.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An information report to provide 
an update on environmental enforcement i.e. number of 
fly tipping prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty 
Notices etc. This is a standing item. This is an area of high 
Public interest / concern.

Carbon Management EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Mick Campbell / Energy 
Officer / Cheryllee Evans

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report to provide an update on 
the Carbon Management Plan. This outlines a strategy to 
deliver a programme of initiatives to achieve our 
reduction targets and ultimately reduce the Authority’s 
revenue expenditure by £350,000 per annum by the end 
of the five year plan.

11th March 
2019

Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

No Officers in 
attendance – Report for 
information.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An information report to provide 
an update on environmental enforcement i.e. number of 
fly tipping prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty 
Notices etc. This is a standing item. This is an area of high 
Public interest / concern.

Household Waste and 
Recycling Centres (HWRC)

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

Cllr Kevin Gibbs /  
Cheryllee Evans / Paul 
Davies / Steve Thomas

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The contract for the management 
of Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRC’s) 
expired on 1st September 2018 and the facilities were 
brought back under the control of the Council. We are 
now 6 months on. An update on the current position and 
future plans.

15th April 2019
Environment Enforcement 
across the County Borough

EW Environmental 
Wellbeing

No Officers in 
attendance – Report for 
information.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An information report to provide 
an update on environmental enforcement i.e. number of 
fly tipping prosecutions; Section 34 notices; Fixed Penalty 
Notices etc. This is a standing item. This is an area of high 
Public interest / concern.

P
age 46



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Additional items to consider for Work

Date to be 
confirmed

Date to be 
confirmed

Date to be 
confirmed

Date to be 
confirmed

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Environmental Wellbeing / EW1: Communities Protect, Enhance and Promote our Natural Environment and Countryside
	EW1  COMMUNITIES PROTECT ENHANCE AND PROMOTE OUR NATURAL ENVIRONMENT AND COUNTRYSIDE
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 Introduction and Background
	Legislative Context

	4.0 Where we were
	Wellbeing Statement and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community

	5.0 Where we are now
	6.0 Where we want to be
	7.0 What we need to do next

	Appendix I
	1 Scrutiny Committee Project Sue Gow 18.6.18 v2
	Appendix I
	Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan


	2 08.06.18 - AQMA Consultation Process final report
	Question 1
	Question 2

	3  Public Health Wales Response to Draft AQAP Consultation
	4  B8SW1235

	APPENDIX II APPENDIX II Carbon Management Plan Update - may 18
	Carbon Management Plan


	4 Environment Enforcement across the County Borough
	6 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	Appendix 1


